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- 1 - CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 

Chairman’s Letter 

 

Dear Shareholder 

Santana Minerals commenced business in late May 2013 

following the spin-out from Cerro Resources.  It provides 

shareholders with an exposure to two exciting exploration 

opportunities in Mexico.  

The first is a project in Jalisco State highly prospective for 

gold and silver. Known as “Espiritu Santo” this project is 

drill ready and at time of printing we are awaiting final 

permits to issue to allow the drilling program to 

commence. Results of soil and rock chip sampling are 

more than encouraging and I have high hopes for all of us.  

The Namiquipa silver, lead and zinc project in Chihuahua 

State where a further program of geophysics 

recommenced recently is the second of our projects. An 

initial resource was announced in late 2012 and following interpretation of the recent work, further works 

will be planned for 2014.   

We will continue to identify and review other exploration opportunities, primarily in Mexico, to build a 

manageable portfolio.  

I have had the pleasure to welcome Primero Mining Corp as the company’s 19.99% shareholder and to be 

afforded the time and input of its experienced and successful President & CEO, Joe Conway. Joe joined the 

Santana Minerals board in June. 

Exploration brings with it a risk that is challenging and a potential for reward that can be fulfilling. I look 

forward to overseeing the implementation of the strategies and the advancement of the Company’s 

projects in search of that reward. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Norman Seckold 
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Management Review – Operations 

Commencement of Business  

Santana Minerals Limited (“Santana” or “Company”) is an exploration company with a primary focus on precious 

metals. It was registered in January 2013 with the express purpose of being the recipient of the exploration assets of 

Cerro Resources NL (“Cerro”) as all of Cerro’s shares were acquired by Primero Mining Corp (“Primero”) under a 

Scheme of Arrangement. That transaction was completed in May 2013.  

 

Primero subscribed $4M for 19.99% of the Company and Santana shares began trading on the Australian Securities 

Exchange (“ASX”) on 31 May 2013.  

 

The Assets 

Assets of the Company consist of two exploration projects located in Mexico: 

- the Espiritu Santo gold, silver Project in Jalisco State; and  

- the Namiquipa silver, lead, zinc Project in Chihuahua State.  

Together these projects provide the Company with a clear focus: exploration for precious metals in Mexico. 

 

Exploration and planning under Cerro slowed during the implementation stages of the Scheme of Arrangement. 

Regulatory permits and approvals are now pending to allow drilling of the Espiritu Santo Project. It is and will be the 

main focus of the exploration efforts in Mexico in the immediate term. The Company has a right to acquire the 

Espiritu Santo Project by making an option payments every six months  at its election for a cumulative total of 

US$1.9M over 4 years and a final payment of US$2.1M in September 2015 (total payments over the option term is 

US$4M). To date US$700,000 has been paid. 

 

Exploration at the Namiquipa Project will continue to be evaluated further, at a lesser pace. Other potential projects 

will be identified and assessed as the Company expands its presence in Mexico.  

 

As part of the Cerro transaction the Company became the owner of non-core assets consisting of shares in a listed 

company, and an interest in the Mt Isa region of Australia held through the Company’s subsidiary, Mt Dockerell 

Mining Pty Ltd (“Mt Dockerell”). The shares in the listed company have been disposed of post balance date for a sum 

of $375,000. In addition the Company announced (ASX:SMI 2 July 2013) a transaction with Hammer Metals Limited 

(“Hammer”) by which Hammer will acquire Mt Dockerell in a non-cash transaction. The transaction, whilst subject to a 

number of pre-conditions, relevantly provides that Santana will receive approximately 50% of the current issued 

capital of Hammer (notional value of $2M) plus a 2% royalty on the sale of iron ore product from the Mt Philp 

project. Hammer will have a 3 year right to buy-back one half of the royalty for $1m. Hammer, in accordance 

with the agreement, has subsequently agreed to be acquired by Midas Resources Limited (“Midas”) (ASX:MDS). 

Santana announced details of the Midas transaction on 10 September 2013. 

Assuming all of the proposed steps are completed, Santana will hold the two Mexico based exploration projects 

and a listed equity position in Midas.  

 

2013 – 2014 

Santana is well placed with respect to its financial and Mexico project holdings.   

 

The current year will see the exploration in Mexico accelerate as regulatory approvals are granted and assessments 

made.  The Company has an experienced board and exploration personnel all of whom have years of experience in 

precious metals exploration and in Mexico.  
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Espiritu Santo Project, Jalisco, México (Santana 100%) 

 
The Espiritu Santo project is located in the municipality of Mascota, Jalisco State, Central Mexico, approximately 130 

kilometres west of Guadalajara and 50 kilometres to the east of Puerto Vallarta.   The project is comprised of three 

concessions, Vale, Tao and Sao totalling 5,463 hectares, located between the historic mining districts of San Sebastian 

del Oeste (20 kilometres to the northwest) and Navidad (12 kilometres to the southwest).  The project lies within a 

northwest corridor defined by numerous gold/silver mineralised occurrences.  

 

 

Figure 1: Espiritu Santo Project Location 

Geology 

Espiritu Santo is located near the intersection of the Mexican Volcanic Belt and the Jalisco Block.  The project is 

underlain by volcanic rocks (andesite and basalt), pyroclastic rocks (andesitic, dacitic and scarce rhyolitic tuffs) as well 

as intrusive rocks (granodiorite and diorite) occurring as stocks and dikes crosscutting volcanic and volcaniclastic 

packages. 

 

Mineralisation 

Gold and silver, with associated copper and low levels of lead and zinc, occur as low sulphidation quartz-sulphide style 

epithermal veins.  Multiple veins or “mineralised structures” have been identified by geologic mapping and rock-chip 

sampling. These veins include a continuum of form from silicified hydrothermal breccias to massive quartz and 

extensive quartz stockworks.  Vein widths vary from 1 to 12 metres, averaging 5 metres, but can contain up to several 

metres of additional quartz stockworking into the wall rock. 

 

The veins represent multiple pulses of hydrothermal fluids filling cavities. The structures commonly show individual 

crustiform-colloform quartz banded veins (width 10-30cm), quartz comb cavities filled by iron manganese oxides and 

sacharoidal quartz plus iron oxides. Locally the wall rock is strongly silicified with stringers of laminar quartz along 

geologic contacts. Individual veins within the project have strike lengths up to +1 kilometre. Trends of the veins range 

from north-south, east-west and northeast to southwest with near vertical dips. 

 

The main veins and associated trends are to the north (Arrizon, Angostura, El Gringo, Plan Verde, Pipi and Santa 

Cecilia), east-west (El Tajo, El Tigre, Nuñez, Piedra Cargada and Ordoñez) and northeast (Carmela, Crestón, El Puma, 

Jenny, Lourdes, Patas and San Pascual). 
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Figure 2: Espiritu Santo Vein Structures 
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Rock Chip Sampling Program 

Geologic mapping and rock-chip sampling has resulted in the discovery of five previously undocumented veins 

including Lourdes, La Angostura, Piedra Cargada, Jenny and Pipi Veins. 

 

Currently, results have been received for a total of 1,150 rock chip samples from surface exposures, underground 

workings, shallow trenches and small prospect pits in the central Espiritu Santo area. 18% of these samples are 

strongly anomalous with gold values in excess of 1g/t or silver values in excess of 10g/t. 

 

Gold values range from less than detection to a high of 44.6 g/t. Silver values range from less than detection to a high 

of 428 g/t. Other anomalous elements include copper (high of 8,970 ppm Cu), lead (high of 20,700 ppm Pb) and zinc 

(high of 5660 ppm Zn).  

 

Soil Geochemical Sampling Program 

In addition to the rock chip sampling program, a conventional -80 mesh (-0.18mm) soil sampling program has been 

used to map the continuity of the mineralised veins between areas of discontinuous outcrop.  A total of 1,974 samples 

have been collected on a 25m x 100m east-west grid, reducing down to 25m x 50m when east-west anomalies are 

encountered. 

 

Proposed Drill Program  
A reverse cycle (RC) drill program has been planned in detail. Environmental permits have been submitted to enable 

this drill program to be initiated post wet season. 
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Namiquipa Silver, Lead and Zinc Project Chihuahua, Mexico (Santana 100%) 

The Namiquipa Project is located in the Municipality of Namiquipa, Chihuahua State, Northern Mexico, approximately 

145 kilometres west-northwest of the city of Chihuahua. The Project is within the Namiquipa Mining District adjacent 

to the village of El Terrero.  

 

Figure 3: Namiquipa Project Location 

The Project consists of three concessions totalling 4,400 hectares and includes the La Venturosa silver mine, which 

was the site of underground mining operations for silver, lead and zinc from 1929–1936, 1948–1955 and 1990-2002. 

Mining has taken place over a strike length of just 1,250 metres and to a maximum depth of only 250 metres. 

Historically the mine is reported to have produced 14.37moz silver, 32,550t lead (produced from 1.16mt mined 

oxide/sulphide material) and 43,530t zinc (from just sulphide material). The principal producing veins were the 

Princesa and America, with lesser tonnages from the Esmeralda and Mexico Veins. 

The Princesa and America Veins were drill tested to approximately 500 metres depth in 2011 and 2012 by 86 diamond 

holes totalling 32,151 metres.  The majority of drillholes targeted and intersected the Princesa vein. A small number of 

drill holes also tested the America, Esmeralda and Mexico systems.  This recent work provided the basis for a JORC 

compliant Inferred Resource Estimate of 4.6 million tonnes grading 103g/t, 0.9% lead and 1.7%  zinc for an average 

silver equivalent grade of 154g/t. (Table 1, CJO:ASX announcement 24 October 2012).  
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Table 1 – Inferred Mineral Resource Estimate for the Namiquipa Project 

Resource 
Category 

Tonnes 

M 

AgEq 

g/t 

Ag 

g/t 

Pb 

% 

Zn 

% 

Ag 

Moz 

Pb 

‘000 t 

Zn 

‘000 t 

Inferred 4.6 154 103 0.91 1.66 15 41 76 

Footnotes: 

1.  Mineral resource estimated according to the JORC Code. 

2.  Mineral resources are reported at a cut-off grade of 100 AgEq g/t. 

3.  The Silver equivalent grades (“AgEq”) have been calculated using the 12 month average metal prices of 
US$31.50/oz Silver; US$0.89/lb Zinc; and US$0.92/lb Lead. Metal recoveries are not considered in this 
calculation. 

4. Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. The estimate 
of mineral resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, 
sociopolitical, marketing, or other relevant issues. 

 
Mineralisation remains open at depth and to the south. In the north the historic La Venturosa workings terminated at 

the North Shaft where the near surface mineralisation was faulted out by a northwest trending cross fault (North 

Shaft Cross Fault).  Surface soil geochemistry and Induced Polarization (IP) /Resistivity geophysical surveys conducted 

in 2012 have identified a possible extension to the America Vein, displaced 500 metres to the northwest.   

 

A recent review of the electrical geophysical response of the known mineralisation has identified a consistent 

signature of high resistivity associated with weak to moderate IP response at both the Princesa and America Veins.  To 

better define this signature and to search for new vein structures the geophysical coverage was expanded to the north 

and south in July-August 2013. 

 

 

 

 

 

Competent Person/Qualified Person 

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on 

information compiled by Mr Bill Fleshman (as it relates to the Espiritu Santo and Namiquipa Projects), who is a 

Chartered Professional and Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  

Mr Fleshman is a consultant to Santana. He has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation 

and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person 

as defined in the 2004 edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 

Ore Reserves”.  Mr Fleshman consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the 

form and context in which it appears. 

 

Listing Rule Disclosure 

In accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.19, Santana advises that it has used the cash and assets in a form readily 

convertible to cash that it had at the time of admission in a way consistent with its business objectives as set out in its 

Information Memorandum dated 7 May 2013. 
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Mining Tenement Schedule at 20 September 2013 
 

Name Number Area Status Interest 

Espiritu Santo, Mexico 

Tao 238201 884.4693ha Granted # 

Sao 238202 200ha Granted # 

Vale 238203 4738.7511ha Granted # 

# The Consolidated Entity has the right to acquire 100% of the above concessions under an option agreement 

dated 1 September 2011.  

 

Name Number Area Status Interest 

Namiquipa, Mexico 

Tasmania 227076 4,226.20ha Granted 100% 

America 219975 136.36ha Granted 100%* 

Rolys 236046 37.44ha Granted 100% 

* The America concession was acquired under and option agreement dated 22 July 2008 (and subsequently 

varied). All payments provided for under the agreement have been made and the formal transfer of the 

concession is pending. 

 

Name Number Area Status Interest 

Mount Isa, Queensland + 

Mt Philp MDLA 471 1670.9163ha Application 100% 

Trafalgar  EPM 14232 98km
2
 Granted 100% 

Pelican  EPM 13870 70km
2
 Granted 100% 

Pilgrim South EPM 15972 38km
2
 Granted 100% 

Malbon EPMA 16726 64km
2
 Application 100% 

Devencourt EPM 16987 38km
2
 Granted 100% 

Andrews  EPM 17453 16km
2
 Granted 100% 

Trekelano  EPM 17762 13km
2
 Granted 100% 

Malbon 2  EPM 18116 10km
2
 Granted 100% 

Duchess  EPM 18320 22km
2
 Granted 100% 

+ Mt Isa Projects are owned by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Mt Dockerell Mining Pty Ltd, which is 
subject to a conditional Share Purchase Agreement (refer p3 for further details). 

 

EPMA = Exploration Permit for Minerals Application EPM = Exploration Permit for Minerals 

MDLA = Mineral Development Licence Application 

 

 

Number Area Status Interest 

Parker Range, Western Australia 

M 77/52 51ha Granted 30%^ 

M 77/893 427ha Granted 30%^ 

^ Free carried to production 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
This statement describes the corporate governance practices of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries (‘Consolidated 

Entity’) as at the date of this report. 

 

The board of directors is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Consolidated Entity, and it recognises 

the need for the highest standards of ethical behaviour and accountability.  The Board is committed to administering its 

corporate governance structures to promote integrity and responsible decision making. 

 

The Consolidated Entity provides this statement disclosing the extent to which it has followed, as at the date of this 

report, the recommendations set out in the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and 

Recommendations (2
nd

 Edition with 2010 amendments) (‘Recommendations’).  This statement also provides details on 

the extent to which those Recommendations have not been followed and reasons for not following them. 

 

The following discussion outlines the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s eight principles and associated 

recommendations and the extent to which the Consolidated Entity complies with those recommendations. 

 

 

Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 

Board of Directors 

The Board acts in the best interests of the Consolidated Entity as a whole and is accountable to shareholders for overall 

direction, management and corporate governance. 

 

The Board has adopted a Board Charter, complying with Recommendation 1.1 of the Corporate Governance Council, 

that formalises its roles and responsibilities and defines the matters that are reserved for the Board and specific matters 

that are delegated to management.  

 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the Consolidated Entity and, without intending to limit the 

general role of the Board, for the management of the Consolidated Entity including: 

 

 oversight of control and accountability systems;  

 appointing and removing the Managing Director and Company Secretary;  

 monitoring any Executive Officer’s performance and implementation of strategy;  

 monitoring developed strategies for compliance with best practice corporate governance requirements;  

 approving and monitoring developed strategies for major capital and operating expenditure (including 

annual operating budgets), capital management, acquisitions and divestitures;  

 monitoring developed strategies for compliance with all legal and regulatory obligations and ethical 

standards and policies;  

 reviewing any systems of risk management (which may be a series of systems established on a per-project 

basis), internal compliance and control, and legal compliance to ensure appropriate compliance 

frameworks and controls are in place;  

 monitoring developed reporting strategies for reporting to the market, shareholders, employees and other 

stakeholders.  

 

The board has delegated responsibility for operation and administration of the Consolidated Entity to the chief executive 

officer and executive management.   
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In accordance with Recommendation 1.2, the Board Charter provides that the Board is responsible for monitoring any 

executive officer’s performance, and has in place procedures to assess the performance of the chief executive officer 

and executive team. 

  

All executive officer’s commenced their engagement with the Consolidated Entity in May 2013. Given the short period 

since their engagement commenced an evaluation of performance as described above has not been conducted in 

accordance with Recommendation 1.3. The Consolidated Entity intends to conducts such reviews annually on the 

anniversary of employment. 

 

A copy of the Board Charter is available on the Company’s website, www.santanaminerals.com. 

 

 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 
 

Board of Directors – Composition, structure and process 

The Board has been formed so that it has effective composition, size and commitment to adequately discharge its 

responsibilities and duties given the Consolidated Entity’s current size, scale and nature of its activities.  

 

The board of directors has one executive and three non-executive directors. The names of the directors of the Company 

in office at the date of this report, specifying who are independent together with their relevant personal particulars, are 

set out in the directors’ report on pages 16 to 26 of this report.   

 

Independent directors 

Due to the size and scale of the Consolidated Entity’s current activities, the Board does not consist of a majority of 

independent directors. However, although the Board does not follow Recommendation 2.1, to facilitate independent 

decision-making, the Board has agreed procedures for directors to have access in appropriate circumstances to 

independent professional advice. 

 

Directors are entitled to request and receive such additional information as they consider necessary to support informed 

decision-making.   

 

Assessment of independence 

An independent director, in the view of the Consolidated Entity, is a non-executive director who: 

 is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a 

substantial shareholder of the Company; 

 within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Consolidated Entity, or 

been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment; 

 within the last three years has not been a principal of a material professional advisor or a material 

consultant to the Consolidated Entity, or an employee materially associated with a service provider; 

 is not a material supplier or customer of the Consolidated Entity, or an officer of or otherwise associated 

directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; 

 has no material contractual relationship with the Consolidated Entity other than as a director of the 

Company; 

 has not served on the Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 

interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Consolidated Entity; and 

 is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be 

perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Consolidated 

Entity. 

 

The composition of the Board is reviewed periodically with regards to the optimum number and skills of directors 

required for the Board to properly perform its responsibilities and functions. 

http://www.santanaminerals.com/
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board and for the efficient organisation and conduct of the Board’s 

functioning. The chief executive officer is responsible and accountable to the Board for the Consolidated Entity’s 

management.  

 

The office of chairman is held by Norman A. Seckold, who is not considered independent in accordance with 

Recommendation 2.2 of the Corporate Governance Council. However the board considers that the office of chairman is 

best served by Mr Seckold due to his extensive experience in the industry. 

 

In accordance with Recommendation 2.3 of the Corporate Governance Council the role of chief executive officer and 

chairman are not exercised by the same person.  

 

Board nominations 

Having regard to the size of the Board, the same efficiencies of a nomination committee would not be derived from a 

formal committee structure. The responsibility for examination of the selection and appointment practices of the 

Company rests with the Board and a nomination committee has not been established in accordance with 

Recommendation 2.4. 

 

Performance review and evaluation 

The Board Charter provides that the Board must review the Board Charter annually and perform an evaluation of its 

performance at intervals considered appropriate by the Chairman. No performance evaluation was undertaken for the 

Board during the period given the short period since commencing business operations. 

 

The Board Charter also provides that the Board is responsible for monitoring any executive officer’s performance, and 

has in place procedures to assess the performance of the chief executive officer and executive team. 

 

The Consolidated Entity has followed Recommendation 2.5 through the above disclosures. 

 

Professional advice and access to information 

Directors have the authority to seek any information they require from the Consolidated Entity and any Director may, at 

the Company’s cost, take such independent legal, financial or other advice as they and the chairman consider necessary 

or appropriate. Any Director seeking independent advice must first discuss the request with the chairman who will 

facilitate obtaining such advice agreed upon. 

 

Skills, knowledge and experience 

The Board considers the mix of skills and the diversity of board members when assessing the composition of the Board. 

Directors are appointed based on the specific corporate and governance skills and experience required by the 

Consolidated Entity. The Board seeks to maintain a relevant blend of personal experience across commercial and 

technical disciplines relevant to the business of the Consolidated Entity. 

 

Term of appointment as a director  

The Constitution of the Company provides that a director, other than the Managing Director, may not retain office for 

more than three calendar years or beyond the third Annual General Meeting following his or her election, whichever is 

longer, without submitting himself or herself for re-election. One third of the directors (excluding the Managing 

Director) must retire each year and are eligible for re-election. The directors who retire by rotation at each Annual 

General Meeting are those with the longest length of time in office since their appointment or last election. 

 

Remuneration 

The remuneration for individual directors is determined by the Board as a whole, with total compensation for all non-

executive directors not to exceed an aggregate per annum approved by Shareholders. 
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For further details on the amount of remuneration and any amount of equity based executive remuneration payment 

for each director, refer to the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report. 

 

The Consolidated Entity has complied with Recommendation 2.6 through provision of the above information under 

Principle 2. 

 

 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
 

Code of conduct and ethical standards 

Although the Consolidated Entity has not established a formal code of conduct in accordance with Recommendation 3.1 

given its size, the Consolidated Entity fosters a governance culture where all directors, managers and employees are 

expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and 

performance of the Consolidated Entity. 

 

Every employee has direct access to a director or executive to whom they may refer any issues arising from their 

employment. The Consolidated Entity does not contract with or otherwise engage any person or party where it 

considers integrity may be compromised. 

 

Conflicts of interest 

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of 

the Consolidated Entity.  The Board has developed procedures to assist with conflicts of interest and these include the 

director taking no part in the decision making process or discussions where a conflict does arise.    

 
Securities trading policy 

The board has established a policy relating to the trading of the Company’s securities. The Board restricts directors, 

executives and employees from acting on material information until it has been released to the market. Executives, 

employees and directors are required to consult the chairman; chief executive officer or company secretary prior to 

dealing in the Company’s securities. 

 

Share trading is not permitted by directors, executives or employees at any time whilst in the possession of price 

sensitive information not already available to the market. In addition, the Corporations Act prohibits the purchase or 

sale of securities whilst a person is in possession of inside information.  

 

Additional restrictions are placed on directors, executives and key management personnel (“restricted employees”). The 

Company has adopted blackout periods for restricted employees, being the period from the end of the quarter up to the 

day after the release date of the quarterly report. Additionally, all restricted employees must apply for written 

acknowledgement to gain authority to trade in the Company’s securities.   

 
The Company has made its Securities Trading Policy available on its website, www.santanaminerals.com. 

Board diversity 

The Consolidated Entity fosters a governance culture that embraces diversity in the composition of directors, executives 

and employees together with the appropriate skill mix, personal qualities, expertise and diversity of each position. Due 

to the size of the Consolidated Entity and the number of officers and employees a formal Diversity Policy has not been 

implemented as per Recommendation 3.2 of the Corporate Governance Council. Accordingly, the Company has not 

developed measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity as per Recommendation 3.3 and 3.5 of the Corporate 

Governance Council. 

 

The Consolidated Entity has 25% (approx.) female participation in the organisation. There are no females employed in 

senior executive positions or on the board. 

 

http://www.santanaminerals.com/
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The Consolidated Entity has complied with Recommendation 3.4 through provision of the above information under 

Principle 3. 

 

 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 

Audit committee 

Given the current membership of the Board and the size, organisational complexity and scope of operations, the same 

efficiencies of an audit committee would not be derived from a formal committee structure. The Board has not 

established an audit committee and therefore Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 have not been followed. 

 

Responsibility for establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control and setting appropriate standards for the 

management of the Consolidated Entity rest with the Board. The Board is also responsible for the integrity of financial 

information in the financial statements; audit, accounting and financial reporting obligations; safeguarding the 

independence of the external auditor; and financial risk management. 

 

 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 

Continuous disclosure with ASX Listing Rules 

The Company is committed to promoting investor confidence and ensuring that shareholders and the market are 

provided with timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters concerning the Consolidated Entity, as well as 

ensuring that all shareholders have equal and timely access to externally available information issued by the Company, 

and takes its continuous disclosure obligations seriously. 

 

Primary responsibility rests with the chief executive officer, while the company secretary is primarily responsible for 

communications with the Exchange.  

 

Whilst the Company does not have a formal policy, the Company notifies the ASX promptly of information: 

 concerning the Consolidated Entity, that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the 

price or value of the Company’s securities; and 

 that would, or would be likely to, influence persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding whether 

to acquire or dispose of the Company’s securities. 

 

Announcements are made in a timely manner, are factual and do not omit material information in order to avoid the 

emergence of a false market in the Company’s securities. 

 

Given the size of the Consolidated Entity, a formal continuous disclosure policy has not been adopted and 

Recommendations 5.1 and 5.2 have not been followed.  

 

 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 
 

The Board supports practices that provide effective and clear communications with security holders and allow security 

holder participation at general meetings.  

 

The Company actively promotes communication with shareholders through a variety of measures, including the use of 

its website as its primary communication tool for distribution of the annual report, half-yearly report, market 

announcements and media disclosures. The Company aims to make this information available on the Company’s website 

on the day of public release, and is e-mailed to all shareholders who lodge their e-mail contact details with the 

Company. Information on lodging e-mail addresses with the Company is available on the Company’s website. 
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The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, to ensure a high level of 

accountability and identification with the Company’s strategy and goals. Shareholders are requested to vote on the 

appointment and aggregate remuneration of directors, the granting of options and shares to directors, the 

remuneration report and other important considerations relevant to the Company at that time.  

 

A formal Shareholder Communications Policy has not been adopted given the Company’s size and nature of operations, 

and therefore Recommendations 6.1 and 6.2 have not been followed. 

 

 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 
 

The Board is responsible for the identification, monitoring and management of significant business risks and the 

implementation of appropriate levels of internal control, recognising however, that no cost effective internal control 

system will preclude all errors and irregularities. The Board regularly reviews and monitors areas of significant business 

risk. 

 

Due to the size of the Consolidated Entity, the number of officers and employees and the nature of the business, a 

formal risk management policy and internal compliance and control system have not been implemented as per 

Recommendation 7.1. The risk management functions and oversight of material business risks are performed directly by 

the chief executive officer. 

 

The chief executive officer takes primary responsibility for managing corporate risk and reviews systems of external and 

internal controls and areas of significant operational, financial and property risk, and ensures arrangements are in place 

to contain such risks to acceptable levels. As provided by Recommendation 7.2, the chief executive officer reports to the 

Board as to the effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s management of its material business risks at regular board 

meetings.  

 

The Consolidated Entity ensures that appropriate insurance policies are kept current to cover potential risks and 

maintains Directors’ and Officers’ professional indemnity insurance. 

 

The internal audit function is carried out by the board. The Company does not have an internal audit department nor has 

an internal auditor. The size of the Consolidated Entity does not warrant the need or the cost of appointing an internal 

auditor. 

 

In accordance with Recommendation 7.3, the Board received assurance from the chief executive officer and the chief 

financial officer that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a 

sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material 

respects in relation to financial reporting risks.  

 

The Consolidated Entity has followed Recommendation 7.4 by disclosing the information above. 

 

 

Principle 8 – Remuneration fairly and responsibly 
 

Remuneration committee 

Given the current membership of the Board and the size, organisational complexity and scope of operations, the same 

efficiencies of a remuneration committee would not be derived from a formal committee structure. The Board has not 

established a remuneration committee and the responsibility for the Company’s remuneration policy rests with the 

Board. Accordingly, Recommendations 8.1, 8.2, and 8.4 have not been followed. 
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The Board is responsible for reviewing and recommending remuneration packages and policies applicable to non-

executive directors, executive directors and executive management of the Company. It is also responsible for reviewing 

and recommending appropriate grant of any equity securities. 

 

The remuneration objective is to adopt policies, processes and practices to: 

 attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives who will add value; 
and 

 adopt reward programmes which are fair and responsible and in accordance with principles of good 
corporate governance, which dictates a need to align director and executive entitlements with 
shareholder objectives. 

 

The Board conducts reviews based on individual performance, trends in comparative companies and the need for a 

balance between fixed remuneration and non-cash incentive remuneration. 

 

Remuneration packages for executive directors and senior executives comprise fixed remuneration and may include 

bonuses or equity based remuneration as per individual contractual agreements or at the discretion of the Board where 

no contractual agreement exists.  

 

Non-Executive director remuneration is a fixed annual amount of director fees, the total of which is within the aggregate 

amount fixed by the company’s Board prior to the first annual general meeting of shareholders. Any amendments to the 

maximum sum must be approved by the Company’s shareholders at a general meeting. 

 

The Company has entered into employment agreements with executives, on those terms noted in the Remuneration 

Report.  The Board ensures that remuneration is in line with general standards for publicly listed companies of the size 

and type of the Consolidated Entity. 

 

In distinguishing between the remuneration practices for its Non-Executive directors and the remuneration practices 

applicable to executive staff, the Company complies with Recommendation 8.3. 
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Directors’ Report 
 

The directors present their report together with the consolidated financial report of Santana Minerals Limited for the 

financial period ended 30 June 2013 and the auditor’s report thereon. The Company was incorporated on 15 January 

2013. The directors’ report is presented for the period 15 January 2013 to 30 June 2013. There is no applicable prior 

period comparative information. Page 
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1. Corporate Directory 

Directors 
The directors of Santana Minerals Limited (the Company) at any time during or since the end of the financial period are: 

Mr Norman A Seckold, Non-Executive Chairman    

Appointed 15 January 2013 

Mr Seckold graduated with a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Sydney in 1970. He has spent more than 30 

years in the full time management of natural resource companies, both in Australia and overseas. Of relevance is his 

particularly successful involvement in management of Mexican based projects. 

Mr Seckold is currently Chairman and Director of each of Planet Gas Limited (director since March 2004), Augur 

Resources Ltd (director since November 2009) and Equus Mining Limited (director since September 2012) all of which 

are listed on the ASX. 

He has been chairman of Bolnisi Gold NL, Palmarejo Silver and Gold Corporation, Moruya Gold Mines NL, Pangea 

Resources Limited, Timberline Minerals, Inc., Perseverance Corporation Limited, Valdora Minerals NL, Viking Gold 

Corporation, Mogul Mining NL, San Anton Resource Corporation Inc., Cockatoo Coal Limited and Cerro Resources NL. 

 

Mr Joseph F Conway, Non-Executive Director   

Appointed 27 June 2013 

Mr Conway graduated with a Bachelor of Science from Memorial University of Newfoundland in 1981, and completed an 

MBA from Dalhousie University in 1987. He has in excess of 25 years of mining and financial industry experience. 

Mr Conway is currently President & Chief Executive Officer of Primero Mining Corp (since June 2010), a Canadian based 

gold and silver producer with operations in Mexico. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Dalradian Resources Inc (since 

2010) and was the former President and Chief Executive Office of IAMGOLD Corporation. 

 

 

Mr Anthony J McDonald, Managing Director 

Appointed 15 January 2013 

 

Mr McDonald graduated with a Bachelor of Laws from the Queensland University of Technology in 1981. He was 

admitted as a solicitor in 1982. He has been involved in the natural resources sector in Australia and internationally for 

many years and in the past 12 years has been actively involved in management in the resources sector. 

 

Mr McDonald is currently a non-executive director of Planet Gas Limited (director since November 2003). 

 

In the last 3 years he has also been a director of Industrea Limited and was Managing Director of Cerro Resources NL. 

 

Mr Richard E Keevers, Independent Non-Executive Director   

Appointed 15 January 2013 

Mr Keevers graduated with a Bachelor of Science from the University of New England in NSW. He is a qualified and 

experienced geologist, having held senior positions with BH South Limited and Newmont during his 20 years in the 

mining industry. Subsequently he was an executive director of Pembroke Josephson Wright Limited, an Australian share 

brokerage firm, for ten years. 

In the last 3 years he has also been Chairman and CEO of Electrometals Technologies Ltd, Chairman and director of 

Activex Limited and a director of Cerro Resources NL. 
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Company Secretary 

Mr Craig J McPherson  

CFO (since 1 June 2013) and Corporate Secretary (since 15 January 2013) 

Mr McPherson graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Queensland in 1999. He is a member of 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. Mr McPherson has spent in excess of 10 years in senior management 

positions, which includes the past six years working in an executive capacity in the resources sector. 

In the last 3 years Mr McPherson was also an Alternate Director, Corporate Secretary and CFO of Cerro Resources NL 

and a director of San Anton Resource Corp Inc. 

2. Directors’ meetings 
 

The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the 
financial year are: 

Director  

 A B 

Mr NA Seckold 5 5 

Mr JF Conway 1 1 

Mr A J McDonald 5 5 

Mr RE Keevers 5 5 

   

A – Number of meetings attended 

B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year 
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3. Remuneration Report - Audited 
 

3.1. Principles of compensation – audited 
 

Remuneration is also referred to as compensation throughout this report.   

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the Company and the Consolidated Entity.  Key management personnel comprise the directors of the 

Company and executives for the Company and the Consolidated Entity. 

Compensation levels for key management personnel, the secretary of the Company and key management 

personnel of the Consolidated Entity are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and 

experienced directors and executives. 

The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the 

achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders.  The 

compensation structures take into account: 

 The capability and experience of the key management personnel; and 

 The key management personnel’s ability to control the relevant segment’s performance. 
 

Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation and long term performance based incentives. 

 

Fixed compensation 

Fixed compensation consists of base remuneration as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 

Compensation levels are reviewed by the board through a process that considers individual, segment and overall 

performance of the Consolidated Entity.  A senior executive’s compensation is also reviewed on promotion. 

 

Performance linked compensation 

Performance linked compensation includes long-term incentives and is designed to reward key management 

personnel for meeting or exceeding their objectives.  The long term incentives (LTI) are provided as options over 

ordinary shares in Santana Minerals Limited and are issued under the Executive and Staff Option Plan. 

The Consolidated Entity has introduced a policy that prohibits those that are granted share based payments as 

part of their remuneration from entering into other arrangements that limit their exposure to losses that would 

result from share price decreases.  

The board considers that the most effective way to increase shareholder wealth is through the successful 

exploration and development of the consolidated entity’s mineral exploration properties. The board considers 

that the Consolidated Entity’s LTI scheme incentivises key management personnel by providing rewards, over the 

short and long terms that are directly correlated to delivering value to shareholders through share price 

appreciation.  
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Service contracts 

The Consolidated Entity had the following service contracts with Key Management Personnel during the period: 

An employment agreement with Mr McDonald (Managing Director) which has no fixed term. Remuneration 

under the agreement is $240,000 per annum (including statutory superannuation). The Company may at any time 

terminate the agreement by the giving of 3 months notice or paying an amount equal to 3 months remuneration 

(including statutory superannuation) in lieu of such notice. Mr McDonald may at any time terminate the 

agreement by the giving of 1 months notice. If a change of control event occurs Mr McDonald will be entitled to a 

termination payment equal to 6 months cash salary in lieu of notice payable immediately after the Change of 

Control Event. 

An employment agreement with Mr McPherson (CFO and Company Secretary) which has no fixed term. 

Remuneration under the agreement is $240,000 per annum (including statutory superannuation). The Company 

may at any time terminate the agreement by the giving of 3 months notice or paying an amount equal to 3 

months remuneration (including statutory superannuation) in lieu of such notice. Mr McPherson may at any time 

terminate the agreement by the giving of 1 months notice. If a change of control event occurs Mr McPherson will 

be entitled to a termination payment equal to 6 months cash salary in lieu of notice payable immediately after 

the change of control event. 

 

Non-executive directors 

Total compensation for all non-executive directors is not to exceed $250,000 per annum. Directors’ base fees are 

presently $70,000 per annum for the Chairman and $45,000 per annum for non-executive directors. Non-

executive directors do not receive performance-related compensation. 
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3.2. Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration (Company and 

Consolidated) - audited 
 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and 

each of the named executives are: 

Relevant Person 

Salaries 
& Fees 

Superannuation 
Options – 
Company 

Total 
Remuneration 

Value of Options 
as a Proportion 

of Remuneration 

2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 

$ $ $ $ % 

Non-executive directors 
     

NA Seckold (Chairperson) 5,833 - - 5,833 - 

RE Keevers 3,750 - - 3,750 - 

JF Conway1 - - - - - 

      
Executive directors 

     
AJ McDonald (CEO)  17,917 2,083 76,262 96,262 79.22 

      
Executives 

     
CJ McPherson (Company 
Secretary/CFO)  

18,628 1,372 33,894 53,894 62.89 

      
Total 46,128 3,455 110,156 159,739 

 
 

1. Appointed 27 June 2013. 

 

Notes in relation to the table of directors’ and executive officers remuneration  

Share based payments are reflective of amounts granted to directors and executives in Santana Minerals Limited. The 

fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using a Black Scholes option-pricing model and allocated to 

each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.  The value disclosed is the portion of the 

fair value of the options recognised in this reporting period. In valuing the options, market conditions have been taken 

into account. 
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3.2 Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration (Company and 

Consolidated) – audited (continued) 
 

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date issued 

by the Company, Santana Minerals Limited: 

Grant Date Option 

Life Years 

Fair value 

per 

option ($) 

Exercise 

price ($) 

Price of 

shares on 

grant date 

($) 

Expected 

volatility 

% 

Risk free 

interest 

rate 

% 

Dividend 

yield 

% 

08.03.2013* 4.91 0.097 0.275 0.139 107 2.79 - 

* These options were granted to eligible key management personnel on 8 March 2013, however the issuing of the 

options was conditional on Primero Mining Corp (Primero) subscribing for 19.99% of the issued shares of the 

Company.  Primero subscribed for the require shares on 24 May 2013 and the options were issued. 

 

 

3.3  Equity instruments - audited 
 

All options refer to options over ordinary shares of the Company, Santana Minerals Limited. 

Options issued by the Company are excisable on a one-for-one basis under the Santana Minerals Limited 

Executive and Staff Option Plan, unless specifically noted.  

Options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation - audited 

Details on options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each key 

management person during the period ended 30 June 2013 and details on options that vested during the period 

ended 30 June 2013 are as follows: 

 Number of 

options 

granted 

Grant date Fair value 

per option 

at grant 

date ($) 

Exercise 

price per 

option ($)  

Expiry date Number of 

options 

vested 

during 2013 

Executive directors      

AJ McDonald (CEO)  1,800,000 08.03.2013 0.097 0.275 24.04.2018 - 

      

Executives      

CJ McPherson 800,000 08.03.2013 0.097 0.275 24.04.2018 - 

 

No options have been granted since the end of the financial period.  The options were provided at no cost to the 

recipients. 

 

Exercise of options granted as compensation – audited 

 

During the reporting period, no shares were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as 

compensation.  
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Analysis of movements in options – audited 

The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by 

each key management person is detailed below. 

 

 Granted in year Value of options Lapsed in year 

  exercised in year  

 $ $ $ 

Executive directors    

AJ McDonald 174,600 - - 

 

Executives    

CJ McPherson 77,600 - - 

 

In the case of share options, where the employment or office of the option holder is terminated, any options 

which have not reached their vesting date will lapse and any options which have reached their vesting date may 

be exercised within two months from the date of termination of employment. 

 
Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation - audited 

Details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration by the Company to each key management 

person are detailed below. 

 
 Number Date  

granted 
% vested in year % forfeited in 

year 
Financial years 
in which grant 

vests 
Executive Directors      
AJ McDonald 1,800,000 08.03.2013 0% 0% 2014 
      
Executives      
CJ McPherson 800,000 08.03.2013 0% 0% 2014 

4. Principal activities 
 

The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during the course of the financial period were the exploration for gold, 

silver and base metals and the investigation of projects involving those activities with the objective of identifying, 

developing and exploiting economic mineral deposits.  Those activities were undertaken in two geographical segments 

being Mexico and Australia.   

 

There was no significant change in the nature of the activities of the Consolidated Entity during the period. 

 

 

5. Operating and financial review 
 

The review of operations of the Consolidated Entity during the period is detailed in the review of operations 

commencing on page 2 of this annual report and forms part of the directors’ report. 

At the end of the financial period the Consolidated Entity had $4,114,765 in cash and at call deposits. Capitalised mineral 

exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward was $12,802,644. 

The Consolidated Entity had net assets of $19,663,708. 
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6. Dividends  
 

No dividends have been paid, and the directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the period ended 30 

June 2013. 

 

 

7. Events subsequent to reporting date 

Since the end of the reporting period, the Consolidated Entity entered into an agreement with Hammer Metals Limited 

(“Hammer”) whereby Hammer will acquire 100% of the Consolidated Entity’s subsidiary Mt Dockerell Mining Pty Ltd 

(“Mt Dockerell”). Mt Dockerell holds the Mt Isa project interests, including the Kalman Project; the Mt Philp Project; and 

surrounding tenement portfolio. Under the terms of the agreement, Santana will receive approximately 50% of the 

current issued capital of Hammer plus a 2% royalty on the sale of iron ore product from the Mt Philp project. Hammer 

will have the right to purchase half of the royalty from Santana for $1m for a period of 3 years. In the event that Hammer 

is acquired by another listed company, prior to meeting certain funding or listing events, the agreement provides for 

consideration shares to Santana with a value of no less than $2m. The transaction is conditional upon all necessary 

regulatory and shareholder approvals being obtained together with Hammer meeting certain funding or listing events by 

no later than 31 December 2013. 

On 13 September 2013, the Consolidated Entity entered into an agreement and subsequently sold its investments in 

equity securities (Syndicated Metals Limited) for total consideration of $375,704, resulting in a gain on disposal of 

$125,704. 

Other than the matters disclosed above, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, no transaction or event of a 

material or unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of financial year and the date of this report that 

affects significantly the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 

Consolidated Entity in future years. 

 
 

8. Likely developments 
 

The Consolidated Entity will continue to pursue its objective of exploration and evaluation for gold, silver and base 

metals with the objective of eventually developing a commercially viable mining operation.  The Consolidated Entity will 

also continue to investigate other projects and opportunities involving those activities. 

 

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity has not been included in this 

report because disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated 

Entity and given the nature of exploration and evaluation it does not have sufficient certainty. 

 

 

9.  Environmental regulation and performance 
 

The Consolidated Entity holds various exploration licences that regulate its exploration activities in Australia and Mexico. 

These licences include conditions and regulations with respect to the rehabilitation of areas disturbed during the course 

of the Consolidated Entity’s exploration activities. 

There have been no significant known breaches of the Consolidated Entity’s licence conditions and at the date of this 

report, no agency has notified the Consolidated Entity of any environmental breaches during the financial year, nor are 

the Directors aware of any environmental breaches. 



 

 

- 25 - DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

10.  Changes in state of affairs 
 

In the opinion of the Directors, significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity that occurred during 

the period ended 30 June 2013 were as follows: 

 On 20 May 2013, Cerro Resources NL completed an in-specie distribution of its shares in Santana 
Minerals Limited to eligible Scheme Shareholders such that Santana Minerals Limited ceased to be a 
wholly owned Subsidiary of Cerro Resources NL. 

 On 21 May 2013, Santana Minerals Limited completed the acquisition of the spin-out assets (including 
the Namiquipa Project, the Espiritu Santo Project, the Mt Isa Projects, shares in Syndicated Metals 
Limited and other incidental assets) under a transaction with Cerro Resources NL. 

 On 24 May 2013, Primero Mining Corp subscribed $4m for 19.99% of the Company. 

 On 29 May 2013, the Company was admitted to the official list of the Australian Securities Exchange 
and commenced trading on 31 May 2013. 

 

 

11.  Directors’ interests 
 

The relevant interest of each director in the shares or other securities issued by the Company and other related bodies 

corporate, as noted by the directors to the Australian Securities Exchange in accordance with section 205G(1) of the 

Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows: 

Director Fully Paid Ordinary Shares* Options over Ordinary Shares* 

Norman A. Seckold 19,432,293 - 

Joseph F. Conway - - 

Richard E. Keevers 301,067 - 

Anthony J. McDonald 4,510,735 1,800,000 

  * Includes shares and options held directly and/or indirectly 

 

 

12.  Share options 
 

Options granted to directors and executives of the Consolidated Entity 

During or since the end of the financial period, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary 

shares in the Company to directors and executive officers of the Company as part of their remuneration. Further details 

of these grants can be located item 3.3 on page 22. 

Unissued shares under options 

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Shares 

24 April 2018 27.5c 2,600,000 

 

Details of options issued by the Company are set out in the share-based payments note to the financial report. The 

names of persons who currently hold options are entered in the register of options kept by the Company pursuant to the 

Corporations Act 2001. The persons entitled to exercise the options do not have, by virtue of the options, the right to 

participate in a share issue of any other body corporate. 
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13. Officers’ indemnities and insurance 
 

During or since the end of the reporting period the Company paid an insurance premium to insure certain officers of the 

Company and controlled entities. The officers covered by the insurance policy include the Directors and the Company 

Secretary named in this report. 

The Directors and Officers Liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses that may be incurred in 

defending civil proceedings that fall within the scope of the indemnity and that may be brought against the officers in 

their capacity as officers of the Company or a controlled entity. The insurance policy does not contain details of the 

premium paid in respect of individual officers of the Company or controlled entity. Disclosure of the nature of the 

liability cover and the amount of the premium is subject to a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy. 

The Company has not entered into any agreement to indemnify any auditor of the Consolidated Entity. 

 

 

14. Non-audit services 
 

During the period KPMG, the Company’s auditor, did not perform any other services in addition to their statutory duties. 

There were no amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its related practices for non-audit services 

provided during the period. 

 

 

15. Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 27 and forms part of the directors’ report for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2013. 

 

This report is made with a resolution of the directors: 

 

___________________________ 

AJ McDonald 

Managing Director  

Dated at Brisbane this 26
th

 day of September 2013. 
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ABCD

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 

To: the directors of Santana Minerals Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial 
period ended 30 June 2013 there have been: 

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

KPMG 

 

Simon Crane 
Partner 

Brisbane 
26 September 2013 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss  

for the Period Ended 30 June 2013 
 

  
Consolidated 

  15 January 2013 

Continuing Operations Note 
to 30 June 2013 

$ 

General and administrative expenses 3 (252,946) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses 4 (32,161) 

Results from operating activities 
 

(285,107) 

   
Financing income 5 254,391 

Financing expenses 5 (440,000) 

Net financing income/(expense) 
 

(185,609) 

   
Loss before income tax expense 

 
(470,716) 

Income tax expense 8 - 

Net loss for the period – from continuing operations 
 

(470,716) 

Loss from discontinuing operations, net of tax  (38,306) 

Loss for the period – attributable to Shareholders 
of the Company 

 (509,022) 

   
Earnings per share 

  
Basic loss per share 9 (0.80) cents 

Diluted loss per share 9 (0.80) cents 

   

Earnings per share – continuing operations   

Basic loss per share 9 (0.74) cents 

Diluted loss per share 9 (0.74) cents 
 

 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set 

out on pages 33 to 57. 
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 

for the Period Ended 30 June 2013 

 
 

Consolidated 

  15 January 2013 

  

to 30 June 2013 

$ 

 

 

52,569 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss: 

Foreign exchange translation differences  

   

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax  52,569 

   

Net loss for the period 
 

(509,022) 

 

 
(456,453) 

Total comprehensive income for the period – attributable to 
Shareholders of the Company 

  
  

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 

statements set out on pages 33 to 57. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

as at 30 June 2013 

  
Consolidated 

 
Note 

2013 

$ 

Current assets 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents 10 4,114,765 

Trade and other receivables 11 7,664 

Disposal group held for sale 12 1,997,067 

Investments 13 250,000 

Prepayments 
 

53,964 

Total current assets 
 

6,423,460 

  
 Non-current assets 

 
 Receivables 11 293,793 

Property, plant and equipment 14 286,473 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 15 12,802,644 

Total non-curent assets 
 

13,382,910 

  
 Total assets 

 
19,806,370 

  
 Current liabilities 

 
 Trade and other payables 16 136,508 

Employee benefits 
 

6,154 

Total current liabilities 
 

142,662 

    

Total liabilities 
 142,662 

  
 Net assets 

 
19,663,708 

  
 Equity 

 
 Share capital 17 20,010,005 

Reserves 
 

52,569 

Accumulated losses 
 

(398,866) 

Total equity  
 19,663,708 

  
  

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 

set out on pages 33 to 57.. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the Period Ended 30 June 2013 

 Issued 
capital 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Total 
equity 

Opening balance as at 15 January 2013 - - - - 

Loss for the period  - - (509,022) (509,022) 

Other comprehensive income for the 
year     
Foreign currency translation 
differences 

- 52,569 - 52,569 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 

- 52,569 (509,022) (456,453) 

Transactions with owners recorded 
directly in equity     

Share-based payments (net of tax) - - 110,156 110,156 

Shares issued 20,010,005 - - 20,010,005 

Total transactions with owners 20,010,005 - 110,156 20,120,161 

Balance at 30 June 2013 20,010,005 52,569 (398,866) 19,663,708 

 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 

statements set out on pages 33 to 57. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash flows  

for the Period Ended 30 June 2013 

  
Consolidated 

15 January 2013 

 
Note 

to 30 June 2013 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities 
  

Cash paid to suppliers and employees 
 

(108,084) 

Cash received from Mexican tax authorities 
 

1,126,982 

Cash paid for exploration and evaluation expenditure expensed 
 

(47,631) 

Interest received 
 

48,805 

Net cash provided by operating activities 24 1,020,072 

   
Cash flows from investing activities 

  
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised 

 
(85,448) 

Net cash used in investing activities 
 

(85,448) 

   
Cash flows from financing activities 

  
Proceeds from issue of shares 

 
4,000,000 

Repayment of loan from Cerro Resources NL subsequent to 
demerger (net of opening subsidiary cash) 

 
 

(819,859) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 
 

3,180,141 

   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 

 
4,114,765 

Cash and cash equivalents at 15 January 2013 
 

- 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2013 10 4,114,765 

 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out 

on pages 33 to 57.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the Period Ended 30 June 2013 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Reporting entity 

Santana Minerals Limited (the “Company”) is a Company domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s 

registered office is Ground Floor, 139 Coronation Drive, Milton QLD 4064.  The consolidated financial report of 

the Company as at and for the financial period ended 30 June 2013 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries 

(together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”).  The Consolidated Entity is a for-profit entity and is primarily 

involved in exploration activities. 

The Company was incorporated on 15 January 2013. The consolidated financial statements are presented for 

the period 15 January 2013 to 30 June 2013. There is no applicable prior period comparative information. 

For the period from incorporation until 20 May 2013 the Company was a wholly owned and controlled entity of 

Cerro Resources NL.  On 20 May 2013 the Company was demerged from Cerro Resources NL and then acquired 

the controlled entities set out in Note 20.  Both these transactions were in accordance with an approved 

Scheme of Arrangement.  For financial reporting purposes the Consolidated Entity has accounted for the 

acquisition of controlled entities as an acquisition of assets and liabilities as none of the entities acquired 

constitute a “business” in accordance with AASB 3 Business Combinations. 

On 31 May 2013 the Company’s shares commenced trading on the Australian Securities Exchange. 

(b) Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards (AASB's) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 

and the Corporations Act 2001.  The consolidated financial report complies with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 26 September 2013. 

(c) Basis of measurement 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  The financial 

report is prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investments which are measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 

consolidated financial report. The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all entities in the 

Consolidated Entity. 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 

resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are described in the following notes: 

 going concern (Note 1(t)); 

 utilisation of tax losses (Note 8); and 

 measurement of share-based payments (Note 22). 
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Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following note: 
 

 capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure (Note 15). 
 

 (d) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.  Control exists when the Company has the power, directly 

or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken 

into account.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 

from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 (e) Finance income and expense 

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and foreign exchange gains.  Finance expense 

comprises foreign exchange losses and impairment losses on investment assets. 

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  

Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is 

established. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

(f) Goods and services tax and other value added taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or value added 

tax (VAT), except where the amount of GST/VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In 

these circumstances, the GST/VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 

expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST/VAT included.  The net amount of GST/VAT 

recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as an asset or liability in the statement of 

financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST/VAT components of cash flows 

arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, tax authorities are 

classified as operating cash flows. 

(g) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 

translated to the respective functional currencies at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign 

exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction. 
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Financial statements of foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations generally are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange 

rates ruling at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian 

dollars at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.    

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign 

operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to 

form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency 

translation reserve. They are transferred into the income statement upon disposal of the foreign operation. 

(h) Lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised in the profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease 

expense and spread over the lease term. 

(i) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense is recognised in the profit or loss 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.  Deferred tax is not 

recognised for temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither 

accounting nor taxable profit and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will 

probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they 

reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 

realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the temporary difference can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 

and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the 

liability to pay the related dividend. 

 (j) Loss per share 
Basic loss per share (LPS) is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted LPS is calculated by adjusting the net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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(k) Financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, available 

for sale financial assets, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured as 

described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the financial assets expire or if the Consolidated Entity transfers the financial asset to another party without 

retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the 

Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Investments comprise equity securities. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 

changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 

within equity in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 

loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from 

the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in their fair value, and are used by the 

Consolidated Entity in the management of its short-term commitments.  

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

less any impairment losses. 

Share capital 

Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a 

deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. 

(l) Property, plant and equipment 

Owned assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

The cost of acquired assets includes (i) the initial estimate at the time of installation and during the period of 

use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 

located, and (ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised for these costs resulting from 

changes in the timing or outflow of resources required to settle the obligation or from changes in the discount 

rate. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 

that equipment.  

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items of property, plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net 

within “other income” in the income statement.   
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Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which the Consolidated Entity assumes substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 

are classified as finance leases.  Other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Subsequent costs 

The Consolidated Entity recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost 

of replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits 

embodied within the item will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

All other costs are recognised in the profit or loss as an expense as incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line or reducing balance basis over the estimated 

useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.  Leased assets are depreciated over the 

shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.   The depreciation rates used for each 

class of asset in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Motor vehicles 20 – 22.5 % 

Plant and Equipment 20 % 

Furniture and fittings 10 - 40 % 

Buildings 5 % 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 

(m) Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from which 

it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 

of the Consolidated Entity’s other components.  All operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed 

by the directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, 

and for which discrete financial information is available. 

 

Segment results that are reported to the directors include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 

those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets 

(primarily cash), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities. 

 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and 

equipment. It also includes costs incurred on exploration and evaluation of the Consolidated Entity’s exploration 

projects. 

(n) Provisions 

A provision is recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

of a past event that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 

pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

liability. 

(o) Employee benefits  

Wages, salaries, and annual leave 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent present obligations resulting 

from employees’ services provided to reporting date, calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 

remuneration wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including 

related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 
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Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Consolidated Entity is demonstrably committed, 

without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the 

normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 

redundancy.  Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Consolidated 

Entity has made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and 

the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. 

Long-term service benefits 

The Consolidated Entity’s net obligations in respect of long-term service benefits, other than pension plans, is 

the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 

periods. The obligation is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates including related 

on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is discounted using the rate attached to the Commonwealth 

Government bonds at the reporting date which have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the 

Consolidated Entity’s obligations. 

Defined contribution superannuation funds 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in 

profit or loss as incurred. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 

options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that 

vest, except for those that fail to vest due to market conditions not being met. 

(p) Impairment  

Financial asset 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it 

is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 

events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. For investment in equity 

securities, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

original effective interest rate. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 

assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss.  An 

impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 

loss was recognised.  The reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 

the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or 

loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 

previously recognised in profit or loss. If there is any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired 

available-for-sale equity security it is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 

that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 

statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the 

carrying amount of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 

of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 

other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).  

(q) Exploration and evaluation expenditure   

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration and 

evaluation assets on an area of interest basis. Costs incurred before the Consolidated Entity has obtained the 

legal rights to explore an area are recognised in the profit or loss. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of the area of interest are current and either: 

 the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the 
area of interest; or 

 activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active 
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 
 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 

carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and 

evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity related. The cash 

generating unit shall not be larger than the area of interest. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of 

interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested 

for impairment and then reclassified from intangible assets to mining property and development assets within 

property, plant and development. 

 (r) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is 

highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use. 

Immediately before classification as held-for-sale the assets, or components of a disposal group, are 

remeasured in accordance with the Group’s other accounting policies.  Thereafter generally the asset, or 

disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Any 

impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on 

a pro-rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, or deferred tax assets which 

continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s other accounting policies.  Impairment losses on initial 

classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.  
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Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. 

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or 

depreciated. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can 

be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which: 

 represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 

 is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations; or 

 is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale. 
 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 

classified as held for sale, if earlier. 

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 

beginning after 1 July 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 

Those which may be relevant are set out below.  

 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2010), AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2009) 

AASB 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under 

AASB 9 (2009), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held 

and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. AASB 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial 

liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project that may result in limited amendments to the classification 

and measurement requirements of AASB 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial 

assets and hedge accounting.  

AASB 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 with early 

adoption permitted. The adoption of AASB 9 (2010) is expected to have an impact on the Consolidated Entity’s 

financial assets, but no impact on the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities.  

 
The Consolidated Entity does not plan to adopt this standard early and the extent of the impact has not been 

determined. . 

(t) Going concern 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a 

“going concern” which assumes the Consolidated Entity will continue in operation for the foreseeable future 

and will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. 

The Consolidated Entity currently has no source of operating cash flows but does have the ability to seek to 

raise funds from the public and intends to raise such funds as and when required to complete its projects. 

At 30 June 2013, the Consolidated Entity has cash balances of $4,114,765 and net working capital (current 

assets less current liabilities) of $6,280,798. 

The directors have prepared cash flow projections that support the ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue 

as a going concern.  

In the longer term, the development of economically recoverable mineral deposits found on the Consolidated 

Entity’s existing or future exploration properties depends on the ability of the Consolidated Entity to obtain 

financing through equity financing, debt financing or other means. If the Consolidated Entity’s exploration 

programs are ultimately successful, additional funds will be required to develop the Consolidated Entity’s 

properties and to place them into commercial production. The ability of the Consolidated Entity to arrange such 
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funding in the future will depend in part upon the prevailing capital market conditions as well as the business 

performance of the Consolidated Entity. There can be no assurance that the Consolidated Entity will be 

successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the Consolidated 

Entity. If adequate financing is not available, the Consolidated Entity may be required to delay, reduce the scope 

of, or eliminate its current or future exploration activities or relinquish rights to certain of its interests. Failure to 

obtain additional financing on a timely basis could cause the Consolidated Entity to forfeit its interests in some 

or all of its properties and reduce or terminate its operations. 

 

2.      FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a) Overview 

The Consolidated Entity has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

 

 Credit risk 

 Liquidity risk 

 Market risk 
 

This note presents information about the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, its 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further 

quantitative disclosures are included throughout this financial report. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 

framework and policies. The board oversees the establishment, implementation and regular review of the 

Consolidated Entity’s risk management system and to this end has adopted risk management policies to protect 

the assets and undertakings of the Consolidated Entity. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Consolidated Entity, to 

set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 

and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Consolidated Entity’s 

activities 

The board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s risk management 

policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 

faced by the Consolidated Entity. 

Financial risk is managed by Chief Executive Officer and overviewed by the board. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is minimal 

other than those exposures with respect to credit risk set out in Note 23. 

The Consolidated Entity held cash and cash equivalents of $4,114,765 at 30 June 2013, which represents its 
maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial 
institution counterparties, which have a long term AA rating by Standard & Poor’s. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient cash to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation. The Consolidated Entity 

monitors its cash holdings on a regular basis in relation to actual cash flows, financial obligations and planned 

activities in order to manage liquidity risk. 
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(d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity 

prices, will affect the Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to currency risk on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than 

the respective functional currencies of its subsidiaries, which are the Australian dollar (AUD) and the Mexican 

peso (MXP).  The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD and MXP, while a 

significant amount of transactions are also denominated in the United States dollar (USD).  The Consolidated 

Entity seeks to minimise its exposure to currency risk by monitoring exchange rates and entering into foreign 

currency transactions that maximise the Consolidated Entity’s position. The Consolidated Entity does not 

presently enter into hedging arrangements to hedge its currency risk. All foreign currency transactions are 

entered into at spot rates. The board considers this policy appropriate, taking into account the Consolidated 

Entity’s size, current stage of operations, financial position and the board’s approach to risk management.  

 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity securities held at fair value. 

(e) Capital management 

The board’s policy is to maintain a sufficient capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Given the Consolidated Entity’s current stage of 

operations and financial position the board is focused on investment of available capital in the Consolidated 

Entity’s operations. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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3.   GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 
Consolidated 

2013 

$ 

General and administration expenses 142,790 

Share based payments 110,156 

 
252,946 

 

4. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENSES 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

 
$ 

Exploration and evaluation expenses 32,161 

 
32,161 

 

5. NET FINANCING INCOME/ (EXPENSE) 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

 
$ 

Interest income 48,805 

Foreign exchange gain 205,586 

Financing Income 254,391 

  

Impairment losses on financial assets (440,000) 

Financing expense (440,000) 

Net financing income/(expense) (185,609) 

 

The Consolidated Entity had foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations as disclosed in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

The Consolidated Entity recognised impairment losses of $440,000 in its equity instruments due to significant 

decline in fair value. On 13 September 2013, the Consolidated Entity entered into an agreement and 

subsequently sold its investments and realised a gain on disposal of $125,704. See note 27 

 

6. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

Consolidated 

 
2013 

 
$ 

Salaries - Executives 40,000 

Non-executive Directors' Fees 9,583 

Share based payments 110,156 

Total personnel expenses 159,739 
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7. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

 
Consolidated 

Audit Services: 2013 

Audit and review of financial reports $ 

- KPMG Australia 40,000 

 

8. TAXATION 
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense 

(a) Income tax expense recognised in the income statement 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

 
$ 

Loss before tax (509,022) 

Income tax using domestic corporation tax rate 30% (152,707) 

Increase/(decrease) in tax expense due to: 
 Share based compensation 33,047 

Sundry (61,676) 

Deferred tax assets not brought to account 181,336 

Income tax expense pre-tax net profit - 

 

(b) Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items: 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

 
$ 

Deductible temporary differences 132,000 

Tax Losses 102,169 

 
234,169 

 

The foreign tax losses have expiry dates under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets have not been 

recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available from 

which the Consolidated Entity can utilise the benefits. 

 

At 30 June 2013, the Consolidated Entity has gross income tax loss carry forward amounts expiring as follows: 

 
Australia Mexico Total 

 
$ $ $ 

2021  1,022,654 1,022,654 
2022  6,030,263 6,030,263 
2023  4,808,629 4,808,629 
2024  880,413 880,413 
Does not expire 175,574 - 175,574 

 
175,574 12,741,959 12,917,533 
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(c) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

Consolidated Assets Liabilities Net 

 
2013 2013 2013 

Exploration expenditure - 3,788,189 3,788,189 

Other items (15,098) - (15,098) 

Tax loss carry-forwards (3,773,091) - (3,773,091) 

Tax (assets) liabilities (3,788,189) 3,788,189 - 

Set off of tax 3,788,189 (3,788,189)- - 

Net tax (assets) liabilities - - - 

 

9. LOSS PER SHARE 
Basic and diluted loss per share 
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share at 30 June 2013 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary 

shareholders of $509,022 and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 

period ended 30 June 2013 of 63,233,000, calculated as follows: 

Reconciliation of earnings used in the calculation of loss per share 

Consolidated 

2013 

Loss attributed to ordinary shareholders used in the calculation of basic and 
diluted loss per share 

$509,022 

  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

Consolidated 
No (‘000) 

Shares on issue upon incorporation 1 

Effect of shares issued February 2013 58,878 

Effect of share issued May 2013  4,354 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 63,233 

 

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

$ 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

Cash at bank and on hand 92,607 

Bank short term deposits 4,022,158 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 4,114,765 

 

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and 

liabilities is disclosed at Note 23. 
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
 
Current 

Consolidated 
2013 

$ 

Other receivables 2,681 

GST Receivable 4,983 

 
7,664 

  
Non-current 

 
Receivable from Mexican Tax Authority 247,742 

Security deposit 46,051 

 
293,793 

 

The Consolidated Entity records a receivable from the Mexican Tax Authority in relation to tax paid on 

exploration and evaluation expenditures in Mexico that is recoverable.  

 

12. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS 
On the 27 June 2013 the Directors resolved to sell the Consolidated Entity’s Mt Isa projects following a 

strategic decision to place greater focus on the Consolidated Entity’s projects in Mexico. On 2 July 2013, the 

Consolidated Entity entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Hammer Metals Limited (“Hammer”) for 

the sale of the Mt Isa project in Australia (for further details of this refer to Note 27). Accordingly, the assets 

held by the disposal group, being the subsidiary that owns the Mt Isa Projects in Australia, are presented as a 

disposal group held for sale and discontinuing operation. 

The loss from discontinuing operations comprises solely of exploration and evaluation expenses of $38,306.  

There is no applicable tax expense. 

 At 30 June 2013 the disposal group comprised the following assets and liabilities. 

 
Consolidated 

2013 
$ 

Trade and other receivables 37,988 

Property, plant and equipment 1,854 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 1,992,676 

Trade payables (35,451) 

 
1,997,067 

13. INVESTMENTS 

 
Consolidated 

2013 
$ 

Equity Securities 250,000 

 
250,000 

 

All of the Consolidated Entity’s equity investments are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. 

 

For such investments, a 5 per cent increase in the price of equity investments at the reporting date would have 

increased equity by $12,500; an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity by 

$12,500. The Consolidated Entity recognised an impairment loss of $440,000 in the Consolidated Statement of 

Profit or Loss for the period ended 30 June 2013. 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Consolidated 

 
Fixtures & 

Fittings 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Motor Vehicles Buildings Total 

 
$ $ $ $ $ 

      
Costs 

     
Acquired from Cerro Resources NL* 124,538 112,751 148,048 118,846 504,183 

Acquisitions 21,005 - - - 21,005 

Disposals - - - - - 

Assets held for sale (39,557) (63,412) (38,010) - (140,979) 

Effect of movements in foreign exchange 921 994 2,217 2,394 6,526 

      
Balance at 30 June 2013 106,907 50,333 112,255 121,240 390,735 

      
Depreciation and 

     
impairment losses 

     
Acquired from Cerro Resources NL* (79,150) (79,731) (70,994) (5,447) (235,322) 

Depreciation charge for the period (2,747) (1,083) (2,043) (490) (6,363) 

Disposals - - - - - 

Assets held for sale 37,703 63,412 38,010 - 139,125 

Effect of movements in foreign exchange (492) (359) (726) (125) (1,702) 

Balance at 30 June 2013 (44,686) (17,761) (35,753) (6,062) (104,262) 

      
Carrying amounts 

     
At 30 June 2013 62,221 32,572 76,502 115,178 286,473 

 

*  For further information see note 1(a). 
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

$ 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation 
 

Mining tenements  
 

Exploration and evaluation phase – at cost 
 

Mexico  

 -Namiquipa 11,247,040 

 -Espiritu Santo 1,555,604 

 12,802,644 

Australia 
 

 -Kalman - 

 -Mt Philp - 

 
- 

 
12,802,644 

Reconciliations 
 

Mexico – Namiquipa 
 

Acquired from Cerro Resources  NL* 10,992,073 

Expenditure for the year 33,501 

FX Movement 221,466 

Closing balance at end of year 11,247,040 

  

Mexico – Espiritu Santo 
 

Acquired from Cerro Resources  NL* 1,421,596 

Expenditure for the year 105,366 

FX Movement 28,642 

Closing balance at end of year 1,555,604 

Australia - Kalman 
 

Acquired from Cerro Resources  NL* 943,899 

Transfer to assets held for sale (943,899) 

Expenditure for the year - 

Closing balance at end of year - 

Australia – Mt Philp  

Acquired from Cerro Resources  NL* 1,048,777 

Transfer to assets held for sale (1,048,777) 

Expenditure for the year - 

Closing balance at end of year - 

 

*  For further information see note 1(a). 

 The recovery of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful 

development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective area of interest. 
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

$ 

Trade payables and accrued expenses 136,508 

 
136,508 

 

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is 

disclosed in Note 23. 

17. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are 

fully paid. Ordinary shareholders have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up 

of the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number 

of and amounts paid up on shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by 

proxy, at a meeting of the Company. 

The Company recorded the following amounts within shareholders’ equity as a result of having issued ordinary 

shares. 

30 June 2013 
Number of Issue price Share capital 

ordinary shares $ $ 

Share Issuance February 2013 78,190,412 0.2047 16,010,005 

Share Issuance May 2013 19,535,387 0.2047 4,000,000 

Balance at 30 June 2013 – fully paid 97,725,799 
 

20,010,005 
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18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
The Consolidated Entity has two reportable segments, as described below. 

 Exploration and evaluation (Mexico) – exploration and evaluation activities of the Consolidated 
Entity on the Namiquipa and Espiritu Santo projects. 

 Exploration and evaluation (Australia) – exploration and evaluation activities of the Consolidated 
Entity on the Kalman and Mt Philp projects. 

 

Operating segments have been determined based on the analysis provided in the reports reviewed by the 

directors in assessing performance and determining strategy. 

 

 
Australia (1) Mexico Consolidated 

 
2013 2013 2013 

 
$ $ $ 

Segment result (38,306) (32,161) (70,467) 

Unallocated expenses 
  

(252,946) 

Net financing income/(expense) 
  

(185,609) 

Net loss 
  

(509,022) 

    
Segment assets 2,032,518 13,301,167 15,333,685 

Unallocated assets 
  

4,472,685 

Total assets 
  

19,806,370 

    
Segment liabilities 35,451 55,499 90,950 

Unallocated liabilities   51,712 

   142,662 

    
Capital expenditure 

   
Exploration and evaluation - 138,867 138,867 

Fixed assets - - 21,005 

Total capital expenditure 

 
 

159,872 

 
(1) As discussed in Note 27, subsequent to period end the Consolidated Entity has entered conditional 

agreements to dispose of the Kalman and Mt Philp projects. Accordingly, the Australian segment is a 
discontinuing operation. 
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19. COMMITMENTS 

 
Consolidated 

 
2013 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 
 

Less than one year 98,924 
Between one and five years 335,441 

 
434,365 

 

Exploration expenditure commitments 

On the 2 July 2013, the Consolidated Entity entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Hammer Metals 

Limited (“Hammer”) for the sale of the Mt Isa project in Australia (for further details of this refer to Note 27). 

Under the terms of that agreement, Hammer will be responsible to ensure all tenements remain in good 

standing from the date of execution until completion or termination of the agreement. The Consolidated Entity, 

therefore, has not shown any commitments in this regard. 

20. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

 

Country of Incorporation Ordinary Shares Percentage 
Owned 

 

  
2013 

Parent Entity 
  

Santana Minerals Limited Australia 
 

Subsidiaries 1 
  

Namiquipa Pty Ltd Australia 100 

Espiritu Santo Pty Ltd Australia 100 

Mt Dockerell Mining Pty Ltd Australia 100 

Texrise Pty Ltd Australia 100 

Minera Tasmania SA de CV Mexico 100 

Minera Longreach SA de CV Mexico 100 

1. All subsidiaries were acquired from Cerro Resources NL on 21 May 2013. 

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE 
Australia 

Western Australia – Parker Range 

In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement, the Consolidated Entity has not made (and was not required to 

make) any contributions to the joint venture in the current financial year and holds no interest in the assets and 

liabilities employed in the joint venture until the commencement of the development phase of mining 

operations.   

The Consolidated Entity currently holds a 30% free carried interest through to the development phase of mining 

operations in the Western Australian mineral tenements, M77/52 and M77/893, under the Buffalo Spring Hill 

Joint Venture.  
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22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 

In 2013, the Company, Santana Minerals Limited, established a share option program that entitles key 
management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares in that Company. Each option is exercisable 
to acquire one common share of the Company. 

 
Throughout the period grants were offered to these groups of Santana Minerals Limited. In accordance with 
these programs, options are exercisable at the exercise price determined at the date of grant. 

 

The terms and conditions of the share option grants made under share option programs and in existence at 30 
June 2013 were as follows. 

 
Grant date Entitlement Number of 

instruments 
   Vesting conditions Contractual life 

08.03.2013 Key management 
personnel 

2,600,000 6 months from grant date 59 months 

Total share options 2,600,000   

 

*These options were offered to eligible key management personnel on 8 March 2013, however the issuing of 
the options was conditional on Primero Mining Corp (Primero) subscribing for 19.99% of the issued shares of 
the Company.  Primero subscribed for the require shares on 24 May 2013 and the options were issued. 
 
All share options are exercisable at any time after the vesting date and before the expiry date to acquire one 
fully paid ordinary share.  Where the employment or office of the option holder is terminated, any options 
which have not reached their vesting date will lapse and any options which have reached their vesting date 
may be exercised within two months from the date of termination of employment. 

 

The number and weighted average exercise price of instruments is as follows. 
 

 

Weighted average exercise price Number of options 

2013 2013 

Share Options 

Granted during the period 0.275 2,600,000 

Outstanding at 30 June 0.275 2,600,000 

Exercisable at 30 June N/A Nil 

 

The share options outstanding at 30 June 2013 have an exercise price of $0.275 and a weighted average 
contractual life of 4.83 years.  

 
There were no options exercised during the period ended 30 June 2013.  

 
The fair value of share options is measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over the period during 
which the key management and senior employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair 
value of the options granted is measured using Black-Scholes formulas, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the actual number of options that vest. 

 
The fair value of share options has been calculated with the following inputs: 

 
 Fair value at 

grant date  
 

Share price  
 

Exercise 
Price 

 

Expected 
volatility 

% 

Option 
Life 

Years 

Expected 
dividends 

% 

Risk-free 
interest rate 

% 
08.03.2013 0.097 0.139 0.275 107 4.91 - 2.79 

 
Expected volatility was calculated using standard deviation based on historic data of newly listed companies 
on the Australian Securities Exchange operating in a similar industry to the Company over the term of the 
option. 
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Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

 
Total compensation arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the year ended 30 June 
2013 as part of share based remuneration expense was $110,156. 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Exposure to credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of the Consolidated Entity’s 

operations. 

 

Credit risk 

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk apart from amounts 

receivable from the Mexican tax authorities for IVA receivable by the Consolidated Entity. 
 

At the balance sheet date $247,742 was receivable by the Consolidated Entity from the Mexican tax 

authorities for IVA receivable. The amount receivable is concentrated in Mexico. The Consolidated Entity 

believes that the amounts due from the Mexican tax authorities are collectable based on historic payments 

received. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
balance sheet. 
 

Interest rate risk 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk through its holding of cash and cash equivalents.  At 30 
June 2013 the weighted average interest rate on cash and cash equivalents was 2.75%. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
An increase of 50 basis points in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would have increased profit 
or loss by $20,574.  A decrease of 50 basis points would have the equal but opposite effect on profit or loss.  
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant. 
 
Foreign currency risk 

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional 
amounts:  

 

In AUD 

 

USD 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents - 

Trade and other payables (Current) (3,195) 

Net exposure (3,195) 

 
 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 
 

 
Average rate Reporting date spot rate 

AUD 2013 2013 
MXP 12.1688 11.8127 
USD 0.9496 0.9133 

 

Sensitivity analysis 
A reasonably foreseeable movement in exchange rates would not have a material impact on the Consolidated 

Entity’s profit or loss. 
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Liquidity risk 

At reporting date there were no significant concentrations of liquidity risk. The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity 

risk arises from its trade payables and other payables as presented in the statement of financial position at 30 

June 2013. The maturity of these payables is less than 6 months. 

Fair value 

The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair 

values at 30 June 2013. 

 

Financial instruments carried at fair value are classified into three levels which are defined as follows:  

 

 Level 1: quotes prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 

 

Equity securities held by the Consolidated Entity are categorised as Level 1. 

 

24. RECONCILIATION OF CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 
Consolidated 

 

2013 

$ 

Net loss (509,022) 

Add/(less) non-cash items: 
 

Depreciation  6,363 

Impairment of financial asset 440,000 

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) (205,586) 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 1,118,511 

Increase/(decrease) in payables 107,460 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 6,154 

Movement in Prepayments (53,964) 

Share based compensation 110,156 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,020,072 

 

a) Financing Arrangements 

The Consolidated Entity has access to the following line of credit: 

Bank guarantees 
 

Total facilities available  44,527 

Facilities utilised at balance date (44,527) 

Facilities not utilised at balance date - 
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25. RELATED PARTIES 
 

Key management personnel disclosures 

The following were the key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity at any time during the reporting 

period  and unless otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period: 

 

Non-executive Directors 

Mr NA Seckold (Chairman)  

Mr RE Keevers 

Mr JF Conway 

 

Executive Directors 

Mr AJ McDonald (Managing Director) 

 

Executives 

CJ McPherson (CFO & Company Secretary) 

 

Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures  

The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ is as follows: 

Consolidated 

2013 
$ 

Salaries 40,000 

Non-executive Directors’ fees 9,583 

Share based payments 110,156 

 
159,739 

 

Information regarding individual directors and executives compensation is provided in the 

Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ report. 

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the 

Company or the Consolidated Entity and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interests 

existing at year-end. 

 

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties 

The Consolidated Entity has not made any loans directly or indirectly to the specified directors and 

executives during the current financial period. 

 

Other key management personnel transactions 

The specified directors and executives hold positions in other entities that result in them having control 

or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. 

 

Key management personnel are able to receive remuneration directly through these entities. All amounts 

applicable to remuneration have been disclosed in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ 

report. 
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Equity Instruments 

Options and rights over equity instruments 

The company has agreed to issue options or equity based compensation to key management personnel. 

 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held 

directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person including their related parties is as follows: 

 
Opening                

Granted as                         
compensation 

Expired 
Held at                      

30 June 2013 
Vested during              

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable             

at 30 June 2013 
Executive Directors 

      
AJ McDonald - 1,800,000 - 1,800,000 - - 
       
Executives 

      
CJ McPherson - 800,000 - 800,000 - - 

 
No options were held by key management person related parties. 

 

Equity holdings and transactions  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares of Santana Minerals Limited held 

directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each specified director or executive, including their personally related 

entities is as follows: 

 
Opening 

In-specie 
Distribution  

Paid up/ 
purchased 

Sold/ 
transferred 

Balance 30 
June 2013 

Non-executive Directors  
   

NA Seckold - 6,253,391 - - 6,253,391 

RE Keevers - 301,067 - - 301,067 

JF Conway - - - - - 

 
     

Executive Director 
 

 
   

AJ McDonald - 1,350,000 1,350,000 (1,350,000) 1,350,000 

      

Executives 
 

 
   

CJ McPherson - 485,410 480,410 (480,410) 485,410 
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26. PARENT ENTITY 
 

As at, and throughout, the financial period ended 30 June 2013 the parent Company of the Group was 

Santana Minerals Limited. 

In thousands AUD 2013 

Results of the parent entity 
 

Profit for the period (434,117) 

Other comprehensive income - 

Total comprehensive income for the period (434,117) 

  
Financial position of the parent entity at year end 

 
Current assets 4,089,317 

Total assets 20,636,352 

  
Current liabilities 1,045,731 

Total liabilities 1,045,731 

  
Total equity of the parent entity comprising of: 

 
Share capital 20,010,005 

Reserves 14,733 

Retained earnings (434,117) 

Total capital 19,590,621 

 

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

Since the end of the reporting period, the Consolidated Entity has entered into an agreement with Hammer 

Metals Limited (“Hammer”) whereby Hammer will acquire 100% of the Consolidated Entity’s subsidiary Mt 

Dockerell Mining Pty Ltd (“Mt Dockerell”). Mt Dockerell holds the Mt Isa project interests, including the Kalman 

Project; the Mt Philp Project; and surrounding tenement portfolio. Under the terms of the agreement, Santana 

will receive approximately 50% of the current issued capital of Hammer plus a 2% royalty on the sale of iron ore 

product from the Mt Philp project. Hammer will have the right to purchase half of the royalty from Santana for 

$1m for a period of 3 years. In the event that Hammer is acquired by another listed company, prior to meeting 

certain funding or listing events, the agreement provides for consideration shares to Santana with a value of no 

less than $2m. The transaction is conditional upon all necessary regulatory and shareholder approvals being 

obtained together with Hammer meeting certain funding or listing events by no later than 31 December 2013. 

On 13 September 2013, the Consolidated Entity entered into an agreement and subsequently sold its 
investments in equity securities (Syndicated Metals Limited) for total consideration of $375,704, resulting in a 
gain on disposal of $125,704. 

Other than the matters disclosed above, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, no transaction or event 

of a material or unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of financial year and the date of this 

report that affects significantly the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the 

state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future years. 
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Directors’ declaration 
 

1. In the opinion of the directors of Santana Minerals Limited (“the Company”) 
 

a) the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 28 to 57 and the Remuneration 
report in section 3 of the Directors' report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 

i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its 
performance for the financial period ended on that date; and 

 

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 

2. The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the 
chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 
 

3. The directors draw attention to note 1 (b) to the consolidated financial statements which include a statement 
of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

 

 
 

AJ McDonald 

Managing Director  

 

Dated at Brisbane this 26
th

 day of September 2013 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 
 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Santana Minerals Limited 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Santana Minerals Limited (the Company), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013 and 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
period ended on that date, notes 1 to 27 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the Group, comprising the 
Company and the entities it controlled at the period’s end or from time to time during the 
financial period. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether due 
to fraud or error. In Note 1(b), the directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements of the 
Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report.  

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting 
Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s 
financial position and of its performance.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a)  the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:   

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of 
its performance for the period ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Regulations  
2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 1(b). 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in section 3 of the of the directors’ report for 
the period ended 30 June 2013. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards. 

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Santana Minerals Limited for the period ended 30 
June 2013 complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

KPMG 

 

Simon Crane 
Partner 

Brisbane 
26 September 2013 
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Additional Information Required by the Listing Rules 

as at 20 September 2012 

 
List of the 20 Largest Shareholders 

Ranking Name 
Shares 
Held 

% of 
Total 

Shares 

1 PRIMERO MINING CORP 19,535,387 19.99% 

2 PERMGOLD PTY LIMITED  <SECKOLD FAMILY SUPER A/C> 13,178,902 13.49% 

3 PERMGOLD PTY LTD  <THE SECKOLD FAMILY S/F> 5,288,391 5.41% 

4 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 4,252,733 4.35% 

5 COMPANY FIFTY PTY LTD <MCDONALD SUPER FUND A/C> 3,350,000 3.43% 

6 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 2,447,486 2.50% 

7 MR TERRENCE WILLIAM KAHLER & MRS SUZANNE KAHLER <KAHLER SUPER> 2,421,429 2.48% 

8 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,347,259 2.40% 

9 T S & J D NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,220,000 2.27% 

10 UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,689,522 1.73% 

11 MR CHRISTOPHER JOHN FONE 1,309,960 1.34% 

12 COMPANY FIFTY PTY LTD  <MCDONALD SUPER FUND A/C> 1,160,735 1.19% 

13 MR ROBERT DAHL & MRS MERRIL DAHL <THE SWAINSHILL S/F ACCOUNT> 1,100,000 1.13% 

14 RELHAK PTY LTD 1,040,000 1.06% 

15 MCORP HOLDINGS PTY LTD <MCPHERSON INVESTMENT A/C> 1,005,000 1.03% 

16 MR TREVOR ROBIN PARKER & MRS JENNIFER ANNE PARKER <KRADJE SUPERFUND A/C> 1,000,000 1.02% 

17 MR TERRENCE WILLIAM KAHLER & MRS SUZANNE KAHLER <KAHLER SUPER> 991,429 1.01% 

18 ALTINOVA NOMINEES PTY LTD <THE ALTIVNOVA INVESTMENT> 965,000 0.99% 

19 COFFEE GOLD NL 725,135 0.74% 

20 MR TIMOTHY TAGNEY 655,000 0.67% 

TOTAL OF TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS 66,683,368 68.24% 

 

Substantial Shareholders 

Name Shares Held % of Total Shares 

 PRIMERO MINING CORP 19,535,387 19.99% 

 PERMGOLD PTY LTD  <SECKOLD FAMILY SUPER A/C>     19,432,293 19.88% 

 MR TERRENCE WILLIAM KAHLER & MRS SUZANNE KAHLER 7,100,000 7.27% 

OCH-ZIFF HOLDING CORPORATION 5,931,803 6.07% 

 

Distribution of Shareholder’s Holdings 

Ordinary Shares Held 
Number of 

Shareholders 
Number of Shares 

1 – 1,000 1,288 588,089 

1,001 – 5,000 1,056 2,697,948 

5,001 – 10,000 318 2,436,278 

10,001 – 50,000 331 7,599,813 

50,001 – 100,000 65 4,582,840 

100,001 and over 76 79,820,831 

TOTAL  3,134 97,725,799 

Unmarketable Parcels 2,207 2,635,052 
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Shareholding Information 
 

Enquiries 

Shareholders with enquiries about any aspect of your shareholding should contact the Company’s Share Registry as 

follows: 

Link Market Services Limited  

     

Telephone: +61 2 8280 7454     

Facsimile: +61 7 3228 3149     

Website: www.linkmarketservices.com.au   

 

Electronic Announcements and Reports 

Shareholders, who wish to receive announcements made to the ASX as well as electronic copies of the Annual Report 

and Half Year Report, are invited to provide their email address to the Company.  This can be done by writing to the 

Company Secretary or via the Company’s website. 

 

Change of Name/Address 

Shareholders should advise the share registry promptly of any change of name and/or address so that 

correspondence with them does not go astray.  All such changes must be advised in writing and cannot be accepted 

by telephone.  Forms can be found on the Share Registry website or obtained by contacting the Share Registry. 

Shareholders who hold their shares via a broker should instruct their sponsoring broker in writing to notify the Share 

Registry of any change of name and/or address. 

In the case of a name change, the written advice must be supported by documentary evidence. 

 

Consolidation of Shareholdings 

Shareholders who wish to consolidate their separate shareholdings into one account should write to the Share 

Registry or their sponsoring broker, whichever is applicable. 

 

Stock Exchange Listing 

The Company’s shares are listed on the ASX. Details of share transactions and prices are published in the financial 

papers of daily capital city newspapers under the code SMI. 
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Corporate Directory 
 

Australian Business No.  37 161 946 989 

Directors   Norman A Seckold, Chairman 

    Anthony J McDonald, Managing Director 

Joseph F Conway, Non-Executive Director 

    Richard E Keevers, Non-Executive Director 

Corporate Secretary  Craig J McPherson 

Registered Office   Ground Floor 
    139 Coronation Drive 
    Milton, QLD 4064 

    Phone:  +61 7 3221 7501 
    Fax:  +61 7 3221 0698 
    Email:  admin@santanaminerals.com 
    Website: www.santanaminerals.com 

Postal Address   P O Box 1639 
    Milton LPO QLD 4064 

Auditors KPMG  
Level 16 
Riparian Plaza  
71 Eagle Street  
Brisbane, Qld 4000  

ASX Code SMI 

Share Registrars Australia 
Link Market Services Limited 
Level 15 
ANZ Building 
324 Queen Street 
Brisbane, QLD 4000 

Exchange   Australian Stock Exchange 
    Level 8 
    Exchange Plaza 
    2 The Esplanade 
    Perth, WA 6000 

mailto:admin@santanaminerals.com
http://www.santanaminerals.com/


 




